IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 

DAVID TREJO APPELLANT 

V. NO.2008-KA-2133-COA 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE 

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING TREJO'S 
MOTION TO SUPPRESS. 

II. THE STATE VIOLATED TREJO'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS BY 
"LOSING" OR OTHERWISE FAILING TO PRESERVE OR 
PRODUCE THE IN-DASH VIDEO RECORDING OF TREJO'S 
TRAFFIC STOP. 

UI. THE STATE COMMITTED A DISCOVERY VIOLATION BY 
FAILING TO PRODUCE THE IN-DASH VIDEO RECORDING OF 
TREJO'S STOP, AND DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN 
FAILING OBJECT TO THE STATE'S FAILURE AND FAILING TO 
REQUEST A CONTINUANCE. 

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING REQUESTED JURY 
INSTRUCTIONS D-4, D-S. 
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V. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THAT TREJO WASA HABITUAL 
OFFENDER UNDER MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 
99-19-81 ORA SUBSEQUENT OFFENDER UNDER SECTION 41-29-
147, AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING TREJO AS 
SUCH. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi, and ajudgment 

of conviction for possession of cocaine with intent to sell entered against David Trejo following a 

jury trial held on April 1,2008, the Honorable Samac Richardson, Circuit Judge, presiding. (C.P. 

43, 100, 173-74, Tr. 202-04, R.E. 4-5). Trejo was adjudged both a habitual offender under 

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-81 and a subsequent drug offender under Mississippi 

Code Annotated Section 41-29-147; he was sentenced to serve a term of sixty (60) years in the 

custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections without the possibility of parole, probation, 

or any other form of early release, and ordered to pay a fine in the amount of two million dollars 

($2,000,000) plus costs, fees, and assessments in the amount of two hundred seventy-five dollars and 

fifty cents ($275.50). (C.P. 173-74, Tr. 224-26, R.E. 6-7). The trial court denied Trejo's motion(s) 

for a new trial and/or motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. 1 (C.P. 102-07, 13 8-147, R.E. 

8-24 (motion(s)) 25-27 (order)). Trejo now appeals to this honorable Court for relief. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Around 1 :00 a.m. on January 21, 2005, David Trejo ("Trejo") was traveling north on I-55 

in between Madison and Canton in a vehicle bearing a Texas license plate; Pebbles Nutt ("Nutt") 

was riding in the passenger seat. (Tr. 58,64,76,105-08). Trejo was travelling in the left-hand lane 

1 Trejo filed his own handwritten motion for a new trial an/or JNOV in addition to motion 
for a new trial and/or JNOV filed by his trial counsel. Both motions are included in the record and 
in the record excerpts. 
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at about sixty (60) mph; the speed limit was seventy (70) mph, and the minimum speed limit was 

forty-five (45) mph.' (Tr. 58,64,105-06). Sergeant Chris Picou ("Officer Picou") of the Madison 

County Sheriffs Department approached Trejo's vehicle from behind and began following him 

(tailgating him) only "a car-Iength-and-a-half or so." (Tr. 55-56,105-06, 129). Officer Picou flashed 

his bright headlights three times, waiting a few seconds in between flashes, and, when Trejo did not 

respond to the high-beams in his rear-view mirror, Officer Picou activated the blue lights on his 

patrol car and pulled Trejo over. (Tr. 56-58, 106, 130-31). According to Officer Picou, he flashed 

his bright headlights because he wanted Trejo to get out of his way so he could pass him. (Tr. 65, 

68). Trejo's vehicle and Officer Picou's patrol car were the only vehicles on that particular area of 

the highway at the time. (Tr. 130). 

At the suppression hearing and at trial, Officer Picou gave the following reasons for stopping 

Trejo's vehicle: (I) he was concerned that Trejo was intoxicated or tired; (2) Trejo had a Texas plate; 

and (3) Trejo was in the left-hand lane and not driving as fast as the law allows. (Tr. 56-58, 76, 86, 

106-10, 135-36). Officer Picou repeatedly admitted that Trejo was not violating any traffic law at 

the time he stopped him; and he gave no testimony that Trejo's vehicle was swerving or otherwise 

being operated erratically. (Tr. 67, 69, 71, 75-76,126,136). Officer Picou claimed that he was 

concerned that Trejo was drunk or sleepy because Trejo did not switch lanes in response to the bright 

lights flashed in his rear -view mirror by a tailgating car. (Tr. 56-58, 106, 130-31). Although, Officer 

Picou claimed that road signs advising drivers of slower moving vehicles to stay to the right were 

'Officer Chris Picou testified (at the suppression hearing) that the minimum speed limit was 
forty-five (45) miles an hour. (Tr. 64). To the contrary, Mississippi Code Annotated Section 63-3-
509(2) provides a minimum speed limit forty (40) mph for interstate highways with a speed limit of 
seventy (70) mph. Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-509 (Rev. 2004). 
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located "all up and down the interstate," he cold not testify that any ofthese signs were even posted 

in the general area ofthe interstate at issue. (Tr. 107, 133-35). 

After Trejo pulled over, Officer Picou walked to the passenger-side window and asked Trejo 

for his driver's license and insurance, and he asked where Trejo and Nutt were going. (Tr. 59-60, 

108). Officer Picou testified that Trejo and Nutt appeared to be tired/sleepy and nervous when he 

approached the vehicle, and he smelled a strong odor of air freshener coming out of the vehicle. (Tr. 

59,69, 108-110). Trejo provided a valid driver's license and insurance, and he said that he and Nutt 

were traveling from Houston, Texas, to Ohio. (Tr. 64, 70-71, 75,110). Trejo had no warrants out 

for his arrest, but a criminal history check indicated that Trejo had previously been convicted of drug 

offenses. (Tr. 60, 110-111). 

Officer Picou returned to Trejo's vehicle, ordered him out, and asked him about his criminal 

history. (Tr. 60-61, 111). According to Officer Picou, Trejo told him that he had previously been 

arrested for stealing a car, but he failed to mention a drug offense. (Tr. 60-61). Officer Picou asked 

Trejo for consent to search his car, and Trejo refused. (Tr. 61, 111). Officer Picou then told Trejo 

that he was going to run his dog around the car, and he ordered Nutt out of the vehicle. (Tr. 61-62, 

78, 111-12). As Nutt exited, she turned her back to Officer Picou, who ordered Nutt to turn around, 

noticed a bulge in her midsection, frisked her, and recovered four packages of cocaine from Nutt's 

person. (Tr. 62-63, 79,112-113). At trial, the parties stipulated that the substance found on Nutt 

tested positive for cocaine. (Ir. 100). 

Officer Picou then handcuffed Nutt with his only pair of handcuffs, and he ordered Trejo to 

lay on the ground until backup arrived. (Tr. 114). Officer Picou then allegedly advised Nutt and 

Irejo of their Miranda rights. (Ir. 114). At trial, Officer Picou, over defense objection, testified that 
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Trejo told him, "It's not hers. It's mine, so don't arrest her. Arrest me." (Tr.114-15). 

Prior to trial, Trejo filed a motion to suppress evidence, asserting that Officer Picou lacked 

probable cause or reasonable suspicion to stop his vehicle, and the detention was unreasonable in 

scope. (C.P. 21-24,35-37,121-126). After a hearing on the matter, the trial court overruled Trejo's 

motion to suppress. (Tr. 92-97). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The trial court erred in overruling Trejo's motion to suppress. Officer Picou's decision to 

stop Trejo's vehicle was made without probable cause or reasonable suspicion and constituted an 

unreasonable seizure in violation of Trejo's Fourth Amendment rights. Officer Picou repeatedly 

admitted that Trejo was not violating any laws at the time he pulled him over and further admitted 

that Trejo's Texas plate was part of the reason he pulled him over. Additionally, Officer Picou could 

point to no reasonable, articulable, objective factors to support his claim that he believed Trejo was 

intoxicated or tired. Accordingly, the trial court erred in overruling Trejo's motion to suppress 

evidence, and this Court should reverse Trejo's conviction. sentence, and fines and render a 

judgment of acquittal. 

The State violated Trejo's due process rights by withholding the in-dash video recording of 

Trejo's stop. Officer Picou's decision to stop Trejo was inherently suspect, and the video recording 

of the stop possessed great potential for exculpatory and impeachment evidence that was crucial to 

Trejo's defense. Therefore, the State ignored its duty to preserve evidence that might be significant 

to Trejo's defense, and violated the United States Supreme Court's holding in Brady v. Maryland, 

373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963). Consequently, Trejo is entitled to a new trial. 

The State also committed a discovery violation under Uniform Rule of Circuit and County 
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Court 9.04. Because Trejo's trial counsel failed to object as to the State's discovery violation and 

request a continuance to procure the tape (if possible) and review it for exculpatory and impeaclunent 

evidence, Trejo was denied the effective assistance of counsel and is entitled to a new trial. 

Further, the trial court erred in refusing Instructions D-4 and D-5, which would have 

instructed the jury that if they found the State's failure to produce the tape was the result of bad faith 

or negligence, it could consider such as a diminishing factor in assessing the credibility of the Officer 

Picou's testimony. The trial court's failure to grant these instructions effectively eliminated any 

consideration ofthe State's seemingly intentional withholding, loss or destruction of the tape. The 

jury was entitled to consider this against the State in assessing credibility and weight, and Trejo was 

entitled to have the jury instructed that it was permissible to do so. The trial court's failure to so was 

reversible error and Trejo is entitled to a new trial. 

Finally, the State failed to prove that Trejo was a habitual offender under Mississippi Code 

Annotated Section 99-19-81 and a subsequent drug offender under Section 41-29-147. In this 

regard. the State relied heavily on a computer generated NCIC report in its attempt to establish 

Trejo's habitual and subsequent drug offender status.' The NCIC report was inadmissible, and 

without it the State failed to prove Trejo's habitual and subsequent offender status. The trial court 

erred in admitting it into evidence and relying on it in adjudging Trejo as a habitual and a subsequent 

drug offender. Accordingly, Trejo requests that this Court remand this case for re-sentencing. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING TREJO'S MOTION 
TO SUPPRESS. 

In reviewing this issue, this Court adopts a mixed standard of review. Dies v. State, 926 So. 
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2d 910, 917 (~20) (Miss. 2006). Determinations of reasonable suspicion and/or probable cause are 

questions oflaw which are reviewed de novo. Id. (citing Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 

699, 116 S.Ct. 1657, 1663 (1996)); Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs, 749 So. 2d 110, 113 (~11) 

(Miss. 1999). The trial court's fmdings of fact are reviewed under the substantial evidence/clearly 

erroneous standard of review. Dies, 926 So. 2d at 917 (~20); Floyd, 749 So. 2d at 113 (~11). 

Under Mississippi law, it is well-established "that the provisions for search and seizure are 

strictly construed against the state and in favor of the citizen." Barker v. Stale, 241 So. 2d 355,358 

(Miss. 1970). All evidence obtained as a result ofan umeasonable search or seizure is inadmissible. 

McFarlin v. State, 883 So. 2d 594, 598 (~9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (quoting Terryv. Ohio, 392 U.S. 

1,30,88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968)). 

"The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 3, Section 23 of the 

Mississippi Constitution of 1890 prohibit umeasonable searches and seizures .... " Rainer v. Stale, 

944 So. 2d 115, 118 (~6) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing U S v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 825,102 S.Ct. 

2157 (1982)). Traffic stops are considered seizures within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. 

See, e.g., Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 653, 99 S.Ct. 1391 (1979); Howardv. Slate, 987 So. 

2d 506,509-1 0 (~12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). The appellate courts of this State have analyzed traffic 

stops under the framework set forth for investigatory stops under Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1,88 S.Ct. 

1868 (1968). See e.g., Dies, 926 So. 2d at 917-18 (~21); Floyd, 749 So. 2d at 114 (~14); Couldery 

v. State, 890 So. 2d 956 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004); Rainer, 944 So. 2d at 118 (16). The reasonableness 

of a Terry stop is determined under a two-prong inquiry: "whether the officer's action was justified 

at its inception, and whether it was reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified 

the interference in the first place." Terry, 392 U.S. at 19-20. 
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A. Officer Picou lacked probable cause and/or a reasonable suspicion to 
stop Trejo's vehicle; therefore, the stop was not justified at its inception. 

An officer may make a brief investigatory stop "when the officer has a reasonable suspicion 

that criminal activity is afoot." Rainer, 944 So. 2d at 118 (~6) (citing Terry, 392 U.S. at 30-31, 88 

S.Ct. 1868). The officer may not rely on "an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch;" 

instead he or she "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts that justifY the intrusion." 

!d. (citing Terry, 392 U.S. at 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868; fllinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123-24, 120 S.Ct. 

673 (2000)). In determining whether an officer possessed reasonable suspicion, this Court "must 

consider whether, taking into account the totality of the circumstances, the detaining officers had a 

'particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particular person stopped of criminal activity. ", 

Floyd, 749 So. 2d at 144-15 (~17) (quoting u.s. v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417-18, 101 S.Ct. 690, 694-

95 (1981 )). "Furthermore, the reasonableness of official suspicion must be measured by what the 

officers knew before they initiated the search." Rainer, 944 So. 2d at 118 (~6) (citing Florida v. J 

L., 529 U.S. 266, 271,120 S.Ct. 1375 (2000)). The United States Supreme Court has also stated that 

"the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe 

that a traffic violation has occurred." Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810, 116 S.Ct. 1769 

(1996) (citing Delaware, 440 U.S. at 659, 99 S.Ct. 1391). 

In the instant case, Officer Picou lacked probable cause and/or a reasonable suspicion to 

make the initial stop of Trejo's vehicle. As explained in more detail below, Officer Picou 

(admi ttedly) had no reason to believe that Trej 0 was breaking any law at the time he pulled him over; 

he likewise had no reasonable objective basis to conclude that Trejo was intoxicated or sleepy; and 

his admitted reliance on Trejo's Texas licence plate as a basis for stopping Trejo is patently 
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pretextual and strongly indicative that profiling on Officer Picou's part sparked the hunch upon 

which Trejo's stop was predicated. 

First, and most telling, is Officer Picou's repeated admission(s) that Trejo was not violating 

any traffic law at the time he stopped him: 

[Defense Counsel]: Okay, But is it against the law, let's say I'm coming up behind 
a somebody and I want them to move over because I'm late 
for court and Judge Richardson is going to be mad at me if I 
don't get there on time, it's not against the law for me to 
[flash my headlights] but its not against the law for that 
person not to move over either, is it? 

[Officer Picou]: No. 

[Defense Counsel]: And he had not broken any traffic laws [at the time you 
stopped him]? 

[Officer Picou]: No, ma'am. 

[Officer Picou]: As I approached him [to ask for his license and insurance], 
none - - none of the factors existed. I didn't - - I didn't knm'" 
where he was coming from, where he was going. Before I 
approached the vehicle, I didn't know about the 
overwhelming odor of air freshener. I didn't know they were 
going to be nervous. Prior to me, you know, making 
contact with him, I didn't know anything. 

[Defense Counsel]: And you had determined that no laws had been broken at that 
point? 

[Officer Picou]: At that very - - yes ma'am. 
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[Defense Counsel]: So you pulled the vehicle over because it was traveling slower 
than the speed limit but faster than the minimum speed limit, 
correct? 

[Officer Picou} : Yes. 

[Defense Counsel]: And you pulled the vehicle over because they were in the left 
lane, correct? 

[Officer Picou]: That's part of the reason, correct. 

[Defense Counsel]: And you pulled the vehicle over because it had Texas plates? 

[ Officer Picou]: That was part of the reason. 

[Defense Counsel]: And you indicated that you wanted to check to make sure they 
were okay? 

[Officer Picou]: When they didn't respond to my signal to move over 
[headlights] that could indicate an impaired driver or a sleepy 
driver, which is what we run into that time of the morning 
with people from out of state very often. 

[Defense Counsel]: But no law has been broken - -

[ Officer Picou]: No. 

[Defense Counsel]: - - causing you to pull Mr. Trejo's vehicle over? 

[Officer Picou]: No. 

(Tr. 69, 71, 75-76, 126, 135-36) (emphasis added). 

Thus, the record makes abundantly clear that Officer Picou had no probable cause or 

reasonable suspicion that Trejo wascammitting a traffic violation at the time he decided to pull him 

over; he readily and repeatedly admitted as much. 

Second, Officer Picou's claim that he pulled Trejo over to check and make sure that he was 

ok-not intoxicated or sleepy-was not supported by any reasonable, articulable, objective factors. 
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Officer Picou claimed that he was concerned Trejo was drunk or tired because Trejo did not move 

over when he (Officer Picou) flashed his bright headlights in Trejo's rear-view mirror. Officer 

Picou's claim that he believed Trejo was tired or drunk is belied by his repeated admission(s) that 

he did not believe that Trejo was breaking any laws at the time he pulled him over. Moreover, aside 

from Officer Picou's bare assertion that he thought Trejo might be drunk or tired, the record is 

devoid of any objective basis to support his assumption. Significantly, Officer Picou never testified 

that Trejo's vehicle was swerving or otherwise being operated erratically. 

Because Officer Trejo could point to no reasonable, objective, articulable factors in support 

of his concern that Trejo was intoxicated or sleepy, his claim is, at best, subject to characterization 

as "an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch." Rainer, 944 So. 2d at 118 (~6) (quoting 

Wardlow, 528 U.S. at 123-24, 120 S.Ct. 673). Therefore, Officer Picou's hunch that Trejo was 

drunk or sleepy was an umeasonable basis for stopping Trejo's vehicle. 

Third, Officer Trejo himself admitted that part of the reason that he stopped Trejo was 

because he had Texas plates. While Officer Trejo's honesty in this regard is cormnendable, his 

admission sheds light, perhaps, on his true basis for deciding to stop Trejo and strongly suggests that 

Officer Picou profiled Trejo as a drug smuggler because he was driving a car with Texas plates at 

a late hour. Again, it is significant that Officer Picou repeatedly admitted that he did not believe that 

Trejo was breaking any laws at the time he pulled him over. 

Finally, this Court's decision in the closely analogous case of Cauldery v. State,' 890 So. 2d 

959, 960-61 (~~1-3) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) is controlling. In Cauldery, the defendant was traveling 

east on Interstate 20 in a car bearing California plates. Cauldery, 890 So. 2d at 960-61 (~~1-3). The 

defendant moved from the right lane to the left lane as he passed a Mississipi Highway Patrol car 
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parked on the right hand shoulder. ld. The defendant continued driving in the left lane, and the 

officer followed the defendant and pulled him over about thirty seconds later. ld. The officer 

checked the defendant's licence and registration and discovered no outstanding warrants. ld. The 

officer questioned the defendant about his trip, and requested consent to search his vehicle, which 

the defendant refused. ld. The officer ordered the defendant to follow him to a nearby gas station 

where a drug dog showed interest in the trunk ofthe defendant's car, where a search revealed two 

suitcases of steroids. Id. 

On appeal, the defendant challenged the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress the 

steroids, and this Court considered whether the officer possessed probable cause/reasonable 

suspicion to make the initial stop of his vehicle. Id. at 962-64 ('\1'\110-13). This Court considered the 

relevant statutes concerning driving a vehicle in the left lane (Mississippi Code Annotated Sections 

63-3-611 and 63-3-601) and held that they applied only to two-lane highways, not to four-lane 

highways. Id. This Court further held that the defendant's action in driving in the left lane of the 

eastbound portion of Interstate 20-a roadway designated for one-way traffic-was exempted by

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