IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVID TREJO

APPELLANT

VS.

.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-2133

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

The window was down on the passenger's side and the vehicle was turned off. Officer

Picou walked up to the passenger side door and asked Nutt to step out. He advised her that he was going to run the dog around and get her to stand at the back of the vehicle with Mr. Trejo. When Nutt first stepped out of the vehicle, she turned her back to Officer Picou very quickly. (Tr. 62) Concerned for his safety, Officer Picou stopped Nutt to turn around because he wanted her to pull her pockets inside out to make sure that there were no weapons, blades or knives. When Nutt turned around, Officer Picou saw a large bulge in her midsection. Officer Picou, using the back of his hand, reached over and touched in that area. Officer Picou testified that he could feel a hard brick-shaped package on her stomach. (Tr. 63) Officer Picou testified that at that point he knew that is was a controlled substance that was strapped to Nutt's body. (Tr. 63)

4

Officer Picou testified that the stop was initially an investigatory stop to make sure that Treho was not intoxicated or impaired. Officer Picou testified that he has found drivers to be impaired even when they did not commit a traffic violation.

The instant case is distinguishable from <u>Couldery v. State</u>, 890 So.2d 959 (<u>Miss.Ct.App.2004</u>), since the record shows evidence of a traffic violation. <u>Mississippi Code</u> <u>Annotated § 63-3-601(d) (1972)</u>, as amended, provides that:

> Upon all roadways any vehicle proceeding at less the normal speed of traffic at the time and place and under the conditions then existing shall be driven in the right-hand lane then available for traffic, or as close as practicable to the right-hand curb of edge of the roadway, except when overtaking and passing another vehicle proceeding in the same direction or when preparing for a left turn at an intersection on into a private road or driveway.

Testimony at the suppression hearing clearly established that Trejo was moving at less than the normal speed of traffic at the time and place and under the existing conditions. Further, Trejo did not comply with the lawful order of a police officer, when Officer Picou flashed his

7

high beams three times to signal to Trejo to move to the right hand lane. The trial judge, considering the totality of the circumstances, correctly held that

Even if an officer's belief that the subject is violating the law is based on an erroneous conclusion of law or fact, such mistake does not necessarily render the probable cause defective, as long as the officer's "probable cause [was] based on good faith and a reasonable basis then it is valid." <u>United States v. Wallace</u>, 213 F.3d 1216 (9th Cir,2000) In Wallace, the Supreme Court found that probable cause existed because of reasonable belief that suspect committed or was committing crime even though officer was mistaken that all front-window tint was illegal); In <u>United States v. Sanders</u>, 196 F.3d 910 (8th Cir,1999), the court held that the officer objectively had reasonable basis for probable cause even though vehicle was not technically in violation of the statute. In <u>DeChene v. Smallwood</u>, 226 Va. 475, 311 S.E.2d 749 (1984), the court held that arrest resulting from mistake of law should be judged by the same test as one stemming from mistake of fact; whether the arresting officer acted "in good faith and with probable cause."

Officer Picou testified that he did not believe that Trejo had committed a traffic violation and the trial judge ruled that the probable cause to stop the vehicle was not due to any draffic violation, but rather found that based on the Defendant's non-response to the flashing of the headlights and not moving over and traveling in the inside lane less than the maximum posted speed limit, that the officer wanted to check to see if the driver was intoxicated or sleepy or had some other impairment. The trial judge held that this is good probable cause to stop the vehicle. The trial judge distinguished the *Couldery* case, stating, "The only reason he stopped the vehicle was because it was traveling in the left hand lane, I would have followed the ruling in or holding the *Couldery* case and would have granted the motion to suppress and dismissed the charge, but this was not the officer's testimony."

The trial judge further noted that the controlled substance was found on the passenger outside the vehicle. No evidentiary items or controlled substances were taken from the vehicle. (Tr. 155) The trial judge held that Trejo had no standing to object to the search of the passenger. The trial court therefore held that since nothing was found in the vehicle, there was nothing for the court to suppress.

The automatic standing rule provided that one charged with a possessory crime automatically had standing to object to a search which tended to establish the guilt of possession of the prohibited items. Jones was expressly overruled as to the "automatic standing" rule in *United States v. Salvucci*, 448 U.S. 83, 100 S.Ct. 2547, 65 L.Ed.2d 619 (1980).

Jones also contained language to the effect that anyone legitimately on the premises searched had standing to raise a fourth amendment challenge. That view was expressly repudiated by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Rakas v. State of Illinois</u>, 439 U.S. 128, 99 <u>S.Ct. 421, 58 L.Ed.2d 387 (1978)</u>. In *Rakas* the Court said, "We do not question the conclusion in Jones that the defendant in that case suffered a violation of his personal Fourth Amendment rights if the search in question was unlawful. Nonetheless, we believe that the phrase 'legitimately on the premises' coined in Jones creates too broad a gauge for measurement of Fourth Amendment rights." <u>Rakas, 439 U.S. at 141-42, 99 S.Ct. at 429, 58 L.Ed.2d at 400</u>. The Court went on to say that it was not an issue of standing, but a question of whether or not the defendant's own fourth amendment rights had been violated and that the claim to the protection of the fourth amendment depended on the legitimate expectations of privacy which the individual had and which society would accept. <u>Id. at 138-43 n. 12, 99 S.Ct. at 427-31 n. 12, 58 L.Ed.2d at</u>

<u>398-401 n. 12</u>. Property interests, possessory interests, and such concepts are not irrelevant and are not to be disregarded, but neither are they to be controlling. <u>Id.</u>

In <u>United States v. Meyer, 656 F.2d 979 (5th Cir.1981)</u> the Fifth Circuit followed *Rakas* and held that "a defendant must establish that his own Fourth Amendment rights were violated by an unlawful search and seizure." <u>Meyer, 656 F.2d at 980</u>. Additionally the Court said, "While an ownership of possessory interest is not necessarily required, the mere legitimate presence on the searched premises by invitation or otherwise, is insufficient in itself to create a protectable expectation." <u>Id. at 981</u> (citing <u>Rakas, 439 U.S. at 142-43, 99 S.Ct. at 429-30, 58 L.Ed.2d at 400-01</u>).

Under the totality of the circumstance, where Trejo was driving approximately 10-12 miles an hour under the speed limit, in the lane that is statutorily reserved for traffic moving at higher rates of speed; Trejo did not respond to Officer Picou's repeated flashes of his high beams; and, Trejo was in a a car with an out-of-state tag, traveling in the early morning hours, Officer Picou had probable cause to stop Trejo's vehicle to ensure that he was not intoxicated or impaired. Further, after the stop, Trejo and Nutt appeared to be fatigued and very nervous, the car had a strong smell of air fresheners typical of drug traffickers who attempt to cover the scent of illegal drugs and Trejo lied to Officer Picou about his criminal back ground. These further indications heightened Officer Picou's suspicions and indicated that it was reasonable to believe that Trejo and Nutt were trafficking narcotics. Treho then refused consented for Officer Picou to determine that it was proper to use his K9 around the outside of the vehicle to detect drugs. This proved to be unnecessary since, when Nutt exited the car, she turned her back to Officer Picou

very quickly, arousing his suspicion that she might have a weapon. For his safety, he asked her turn around, at which time he saw the outline of the contraband around her midsection. At this point he read Trejo and Nutt their rights. After which, Trejo declared that the cocaine was his.

This issue is without merit. Trejo was in violation of <u>Mississippi Code Annotated § 63-3-601(d) (1972</u>), as amended. Further, as the trial court noted, the totality of the circumstances showed probable cause. Trejo was traveling considerably less that the maximum speed and traveling in the left hand lane despite signs along the interstate directing slow moving traffic to the right hand land. He was further traveling in a vehicle with an out-of-state tag in the wee hours of the morning. These factors taken together, in their totality created probable cause for Officer Picou to stop Trejo. Therefore, the trial court correctly denied the Motion to Suppress. As noted earlier, Trejo has no standing to object to the search of Nutt and admitted that the drugs were his, thus establishing joint possession. Since Trejo has no standing to object to Picou's search of Nutt, the four bricks of cocaine found on Nutt were correctly admitted into evidence.

Trejo argues that his detention was not reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the stop initially. Trejo cites <u>U.S. v. Grant, 349 F.3d 192, (5th Cir, 2003)</u> for the proposition that, "[w]hen the purposes of the stop are resolved and the officer's initial suspicion have been verified or dispelled the detention must end unless there is additional reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts." However, after Officer Picou stopped Trejo, his suspicions were not dispelled. In fact, the stop revealed that the occupants of the car were extremely nervous and fatigued. Trejo fumbled with his license and seemed to have difficulty removing it from his wallet. There was the strong odor of air fresheners sometimes used to overwhelm the scent of contraband drugs. The stop further revealed Trejo's prior arrests for

possession of cocaine. When asked about his criminal background, Trejo lied to Officer Picou. These additional factors which manifested after the car was initially stopped were sufficient to justify the further detention of Trejo and Nutt. The trial court correctly found that the length of the stop was not excessive and was justified by the totality of the circumstances.

This issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be upheld.

II. The State did not violate Trejo's due process rights due to the loss of the video recording of Trejo's traffic stop.

Officer Picou testified on cross examination that there was an in-dash camera in his vehicle on the night he stopped Trejo and Nutt. The camera was set to begin recording five seconds after Officer Picou turned on his blue lights. Officer Picou testified that the camera did record the traffic stop. He testified that last time the tape was seen was with the last district attorney's office in the file. (Tr. 140) Picou testified that the camera was set to activate whenever he turned on his blue lights. Picou testified that prior to the grand jury, and during the old District Attorney's administration, he gave the tape to the District Attorney's Office. In an attempt to find the tape Officer Picou went back to the Madison County Sheriff's Office and had the lieutenant there look through all the items in the case to make sure that the DA's Office hadn't sent it back to them. Officer Picou determined that it was never given back to the Sheriff's Office to be kept in evidence.

The record reflects that during the time leading up to the trial of this case, there was a change in the administration of the District Attorney's Office. There is no evidence, testimony or indication of any wrong doing or intentional withholding of discoverable evidence by the DA's

Office.

Trejo argues "The State, by withholding the video tape of Trejo's stop, violated Trejo's due process rights by disregarding its duty to preserve evidence that might be significant to Trejo's case. The State also violated Trejo's due process rights under the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963).

Trejo makes great noise over the missing video tape, but it appears that the tape would not have helped him if it had appeared. Trejo disputes the validity of the stop by Officer Picou. However, Officer Picou testified that the camera did not begin to record until five seconds after he turned on his blue lights. This is after the events the led up to Picou's decision to stop Trejo's vehicle. Prior to the time the camera began recording, Officer Picou approached Trejo from behind in the left hand, or "overtaking" lane. Officer Picou testified that Trejo was traveling 10-12 miles per hour below the maximum speed limit and was in the lane clearly designated for fast moving traffic. Trejo did not respond as Officer Picou flashed his high-beam headlights at Trejo three times, pausing 10 seconds between each flash. It was after Trejo failed to respond that Picou activated his blue lights and pulled Trejo over. These are the events that lead up to the stop, and they would not have appeared on the tape. Thus the tape would have been no help to Trejo.

Further, while it is established that the State had the duty to turn over all exculpatory material relevant to a defendant, Trejo is unable to establish *Brady* violation. The United States Supreme Court has stated that "the suppression by the prosecution of *evidence favorable to an accused* upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>,

<u>373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 1196-97, 10 L.Ed.2d 215, 218 (1963)</u>. See also <u>Howard v. State</u>, <u>945 So.2d 326, 337 (Miss.2006)</u>; <u>Simon v. State</u>, <u>857 So.2d 668, 699 (Miss.2003)</u>. [Emphasis added.]

In order to establish a Brady violation, the defendant must show: (1) that the State possessed *evidence favorable to the defendant*; (2) that the defendant did not possess the evidence and could not have obtained it himself with reasonable diligence; (3) *that the prosecution suppressed the favorable evidence*; and (4) that *had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different. <u>Howard v. State, 945 So.2d 326 (Miss. 2006); King v. State, 656 So.2d 1168, 1174 (Miss.1995)</u>.*

Trejo is unable to show that the State possessed evidence favorable to the defendant, since the only testimony that relates to the content of the video suggests that the video was favorable to the State. Further, there is no proof that the prosecution *suppressed* the video tape, merely, that it was lost. Trejo argues that it is "safe to conclude that the video tape was suppressed on the State's part." This accusation is completely unsupportable. There is no evidence at any hearing at any time that the State intentionally withheld this piece of evidence. It appears, that this videotape was lost. Finally, Trejo is unable to establish that had the tape been found, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different. Trejo cannot the requirements to prove a *Brady* violation. Therefore, this issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

III. There was no discovery violation by the State and the Trejo's trial counsel was not ineffective.

14

Trejo alleges that the State committed a discovery violation in failing to produce the tape from the in-dash camera on Officer Picou's car. However, there is no motion or objection at trial citing Rule 9.04. Therefore it is procedurally barred. Where an argument has never been raised before the trial court, we repeatedly have held that "a trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to the trial court for a decision." *Purvis v. Barnes*, 791 So.2d 199, 203 (Miss.2001). This issue is not properly before this Court, thus, it is without merit.

For an ineffective assistance of counsel claim to succeed, a defendant must satisfy the two-pronged test established in <u>Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80</u> <u>L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)</u>. <u>Stringer v. State, 627 So.2d 326, 328 (Miss.1993)</u>. The test requires that the defendant first show that counsel was deficient; he must then show that the deficiency prejudiced his defense. <u>McQuarter v. State, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss.1990)</u> (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687). Further, the defendant must overcome a "strong but rebuttable presumption that counsel's conduct falls within a broad range of reasonable professional assistance." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Gilliard v.</u> <u>State, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss.1985)</u>).

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